FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
7/31/2024 4:04 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/1/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1033176

NO. _____

Court of Appeals No. 58229-5-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES and COMMISSIONER OF PUBLIC LANDS HILARY FRANZ,

Petitioners,

v.

COOKE AQUACULTURE PACIFIC, LLC,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General EDWARD D. CALLOW WSBA No. 30484 Senior Counsel KIERA E. MILLER WSBA No. 48419 Assistant Attorney General CHRISTA L. THOMPSON WSBA No. 15431 Senior Counsel 1125 Washington Street SE Olympia, WA 98504 (360) 664-2854

I. INTRODUCTION

After Cooke Aquaculture unsuccessfully appealed the Department of Natural Resources' decision to terminate its aquatic lands lease under RCW 79.02.030, the trial court correctly applied collateral estoppel to dismiss Cooke's attempt at a second bite at the apple. As the trial court properly concluded, the claims asserted in Cooke's second lawsuit were all premised on the alleged invalidity of the lease termination—an issue that was necessarily decided in the earlier lawsuit.

The Court of Appeals erred in reversing the dismissal of two of Cooke's claims. Contrary to Cooke's arguments and the Court of Appeals' analysis below, collateral estoppel does not require identity of claims. It requires only that a controlling legal or factual issue was necessarily decided in the prior case.

Here, there is no dispute that Cooke litigated and lost its argument that the State's termination of Cooke's lease violated the lease terms. As the Court of Appeals already concluded in its first decision:

There is no question that Cooke's failure to pay rent on October 1, 2017 constituted a default...This means that...DNR could declare an event of default if another default occurred within six months. And under section 14.3(a), DNR had the option to terminate the lease if an event of default occurred. We conclude that additional defaults did occur within six months of October 1, 2017.

Cooke Aquaculture Pac., LLC v. Dep't of Nat. Res. & Hilary Franz, No. 54564-1-II, slip op. at 11 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 14, 2021) (unpublished) (Cooke 1). Therefore, as of December 9, 2017:

DNR could deem one or more of the subsequent defaults an event of default. Cooke was not entitled to an opportunity to cure.

Accordingly,...DNR had the right under the terms of the lease to terminate Cooke's lease.

Cooke 1, slip op. at 14. This issue is dispositive of Cooke's remaining two claims.

First, "[a]s a matter of law, there cannot be a breach of the duty of good faith when a party simply stands on its rights to require performance of a contract according to its terms."

Badgett v. Sec. State Bank, 116 Wn.2d 563, 570, 807 P.2d 356 (1991). Rather, the duty arises only "when one party has discretionary authority to determine a future [undefined] contract term," such as "quantity, price, or time." Rekhter v. State, 180 Wn.2d 102, 112, 323 P.3d 1036 (2014). There is no such undefined contract term at issue here. DNR simply exercised a clearly-defined right it had under the contract to terminate Cooke's lease—one which has been conclusively determined in the earlier litigation.

Second, Cooke's argument that DNR failed to provide the *lender* with notice of Cooke's defaults prior to termination is foreclosed because the lender's right is indisputably the same as Cooke's. Clerk's Papers (CP) at 135 ("State grants to Lender the same time to cure any default as is provided to Tenant under the Lease"). The earlier litigation already unqualifiedly determined that, following its earlier default, Cooke had no right under the contract to cure the subsequent defaults that led to the

termination of its lease. *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 14. So, under the undisputed contract terms, the lender had no such right, either.¹

Both of Cooke's repackaged claims are foreclosed by its earlier failed challenge, which already determined that DNR acted pursuant to its express contractual authority in terminating Cooke's lease. The Court of Appeals' decision holding otherwise conflicts with this Court's collateral estoppel case law, undermines the finality of the statutory process for challenge of public lands leasing decisions, and frustrates the State's ability to protect its aquatic and other public lands. This Court should grant DNR's Petition under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are the Washington State Department of Natural Resources, an agency of the State of Washington, and Commissioner of Public Lands Hilary Franz, in her official capacity. The Department of Natural Resources and Commissioner Franz were the Defendants in the Thurston

¹ The lender is not a party to this case.

County Superior Court and the Respondents in the Court of Appeals.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

DNR seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division II, decision in *Cooke Aquaculture Pacific, LLC v. Washington State Department of Natural Resources and Hilary Franz*, No. 58229-5-II (filed July 2, 2024) (unpublished) (*Cooke* 2). A copy of the decision is in Appendix A.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

After Cooke unsuccessfully challenged its lease termination under RCW 79.02.030, are its remaining claims collaterally estopped where they all depend on its argument that the lease termination was invalid under the contract?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

The state-owned aquatic lands at issue here are located in Port Angeles Harbor and have been used for finfish aquaculture since the mid-1980s by various lessees. CP at 127; *see also Cooke* 1, slip op. at 2. In 2015, the parties entered into the lease at issue. CP at 130, 284.

1. Lease Provisions

The lease required Cooke to maintain the Property in good order and repair, and in a clean, attractive, and safe condition. CP at 306. The lease defines the term "Property" and "Improvements." CP at 285, 290. The lease also provides that the waiver of any default under any lease term is neither a waiver of the term, nor of any subsequent default of that same term or any other term. CP at 311.

Under Section 14 of the lease, a "default" occurs when Cooke fails to timely pay rent or other expenses, or fails to comply with any other lease provision. CP at 308-09. Generally,

Cooke has 60 days to cure a default, unless the lease otherwise provides a different timeline. CP at 308. But, upon an Event of Default, DNR can terminate the lease without providing Cooke an opportunity to cure.; *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 4.

A default becomes an "Event of Default" in two ways. CP at 308. First, a default constitutes an Event of Default if Cooke fails to cure a default within the cure period after receiving notice from DNR. *Id.* Second, DNR may, in its discretion, deem a default to be an Event of Default "if the default occurs within six (6) months after a default by [Cooke] for which [DNR] has provided notice and opportunity to cure and regardless of whether the first and subsequent defaults are of the same nature." *Id.* DNR is not required to provide Cooke an opportunity to cure an Event of Default. *Id.*; *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 4.

The lease required Cooke to replace un-encapsulated floatation materials on the wooden float by December 1, 2015, and to replace un-encapsulated floatation material on the

concrete float by December 1, 2016. CP at 316. Cooke was also required to "ensure that all Improvements are located entirely on the Property," which included anchors, among other things, by October 1, 2016. CP at 317; *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 3.

2. Termination

In August 2017, a net pen at Cooke's Cypress Island commercial fish farm collapsed. *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 5. Following the net pen collapse, DNR began investigating the causes and inspecting Cooke's other salmon farms for compliance with its maintenance obligations and general lease terms. *Id.* Meanwhile, in October 2017, Cooke failed to timely pay the required annual rent on the Port Angeles leasehold. *Id.* DNR sent Cooke a Notice of Default providing Cooke 60 days to cure, and Cooke timely cured. *Id.*; CP at 428-29.

DNR hired a marine engineering firm, Mott MacDonald, to investigate the cause of the net pen collapse, and inspect Cooke's remaining net pen sites. *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 5. Mott MacDonald reported areas of critical conditions, serious

deficiencies, and severe damage, including but not limited to unencapsulated floatation materials and disconnected anchors, although the net pen facilities were otherwise in "fair condition." *Id.* Mott MacDonald also determined that anchors on both the primary and secondary net pens were located outside of the leasehold boundary. *Id.*; CP at 433.

Based on these reports, DNR determined that Cooke was in default of the lease in three respects. *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 5-6, 11-12. Specifically, (1) Cooke's failure to encapsulate floatation material on the concrete float by December 1, 2016, violated Exhibit B's requirement to do so; (2) Cooke's failure to ensure all anchors were within the leasehold boundaries violated Exhibit B's requirement that all Improvements be located entirely on the Property; and (3) the disconnected anchor chains and anchor chain with an open link violated Section 11.2's requirement to maintain the Property and Improvements in good order and repair, in a safe, clean, and attractive condition. *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 6.

On December 15, 2017, after reviewing Mott MacDonald's preliminary findings, DNR deemed Cooke's default for failure to comply with Section 11.2 an Event of Default. *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 6-7; CP at 433. DNR then terminated the lease under Section 14. *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 6-7; CP at 433.

B. Bifurcation and Procedural History

Cooke timely appealed DNR's decision to terminate the lease to the superior court under RCW 79.02.030. CP at 266; *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 7. Cooke also sought a declaratory judgment that it was not in default of the lease and that DNR did not have a basis to terminate the lease, and alleged that DNR breached the duty of good faith and fair dealing when it terminated the lease. CP at 280. Cooke first filed its complaint in Clallam County. *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 7. DNR moved to change the venue from Clallam County to Thurston County. *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 7; CP at 327. The Clallam County Superior Court granted DNR's motion and transferred venue to the Thurston County Superior Court. *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 7; CP at 327. The trial court severed

Cooke's RCW 79.02.030 appeal (the administrative appeal) from its other claims, ruling that it would hear the administrative appeal first. CP at 360. Cooke did not oppose bifurcation. *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 7; CP at 365.

The trial court reviewed the Agency Record, which included the lease. CP at 441. The trial court rejected Cooke's claim that DNR's decision to terminate was quasi-judicial, and therefore concluded that the appropriate standard of review was arbitrary and capricious under Northwest Alloys v. Department of Natural Resources, 10 Wn. App. 2d 169, 447 P.3d 620 (2019), review denied, 194 Wn.2d 1019, 455 P.3d 138 (2020). CP at 441. The trial court ruled that DNR's decision to terminate the lease was factually supported, and was not arbitrary and capricious. CP at 441-42. The court also concluded that DNR did not waive the lease provisions requiring timely payment of rent, and further stated that "[u]nder the circumstances in this case, waiver cannot apply to avoid compliance with the Lease provisions with DNR,

a public entity." CP at 441. Cooke timely appealed the trial court's decision. CP at 445.

In affirming the trial court, the Court of Appeals, in an unpublished opinion, held that DNR's decision to terminate Cooke's lease was administrative, and therefore the proper standard of judicial review of that decision is arbitrary and capricious. *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 1-2. However, the Court's review of and construction of the lease provisions—a legal question—was de novo. *See id.* at 10-12. The Court affirmed the trial court's decision that DNR did not act in an arbitrary and capricious manner, holding that "DNR's decision to terminate the lease was based on facts supported by substantial evidence, pursuant to plain terms of the contract, was well reasoned and made with due regard to the facts and circumstances." *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 15.

Cooke filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which the Court of Appeals denied. CP at 512. Cooke subsequently petitioned this Court for review, which also denied review. CP at

514. The Court of Appeals issued its Mandate on September 9, 2022. CP at 516.

C. Trial Court's Ruling on Cooke's Bifurcated Claims

In February 2023, DNR filed a motion for summary judgment on Cooke's remaining civil claims, arguing that collateral estoppel precluded Cooke's civil claims, and that its § 1983 due process claims failed as a matter of law. CP at 230. The trial court granted summary judgment to DNR, and dismissed Cooke's claims. CP at 2500; Verbatim Report of Proceedings (03-31-23) at 33. Cooke timely appealed. CP at 2507.

D. Court of Appeals Decision

On appeal to Division II, Cooke abandoned its § 1983 claims, and assigned error to the trial court's dismissal under collateral estoppel of three of its causes of action: 1) its Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act (UDJA) claims for breach of contract; 2) its good faith and fair dealing claims; and 3) its lender notice and right to cure claims. The Court of Appeals, in an unpublished

opinion, affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Cooke's UDJA claims, but reversed the dismissal of Cooke's good faith and fair dealing and lender notice claims. Cooke 2, slip op. at 2. The Court of Appeals held that collateral estoppel barred Cooke's UDJA claims because the issues were the same. *Cooke* 2, slip op. at 11. Relying on *Standlee v. Smith*, 83 Wn.2d 405, 518 P.2d 721 (1974), the Court of Appeals also held that the burden was different in the previous administrative appeal, and therefore the issues relating to the two other claims were not the same. Cooke 2, slip op. at 12. The Court based this determination on an amorphous distinction between DNR's "right" to terminate the lease versus DNR's "decision" to terminate the lease. Cooke 2, slip op. at 12. DNR seeks review of this decision as it pertains to the Court of Appeals reversing and remanding to the trial court Cooke's good faith and fair dealing, and lender notice and right to cure claims.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to established Supreme Court precedent, misapplies *Standlee*, a criminal law case, to the legislatively mandated appeal procedures of RCW 79.02.030, and undermines those appeal procedures. This decision was wrong, and given the potential impacts to state-owned aquatic lands and the conflicts with precedent, warrants review.

A. This Case Presents a Matter of Substantial Public Interest Because the Court of Appeals' Decision Undermines the Appeal Process of RCW 79.02.030, Harming DNR's Ability to Protect the State's Aquatic Lands

At statehood, Washington State asserted full, fee ownership of the beds and shores of all navigable waters up to the line of ordinary high tide. Const. art. XVII, § 1. The Legislature delegated the responsibility to manage state-owned aquatic lands to DNR "for the benefit of the public." RCW 79.105.010. DNR is required to "strive to provide a

balance of public benefits for all citizens of the state." RCW 79.105.030. Accordingly, DNR has a unique role in managing state-owned aquatic lands in trust for the public by virtue of the Washington Constitution. *Pope Res. v. Dep't of Nat. Res.*, 190 Wn.2d 744, 754, 418 P.3d 90 (2018); *Nw. Alloys*, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 185.

The Legislature established the appeal process for DNR's leasing decisions on state-owned aquatic lands under RCW 79.02.030, which provides that:

[a]ny applicant to purchase, or lease, any public lands of the state, or any valuable materials thereon, and any person whose property rights or interests will be affected by such sale or lease, feeling aggrieved by any order or decision of the board, or the commissioner, concerning the same, may appeal therefrom to the superior court of the county in which such lands or materials are situated, ... within thirty days from the date of the order or decision appealed from.

RCW 79.02.030 creates the mechanism for judicial review of DNR's leasing decisions. Allowing thirty days for a lessee of state-owned aquatic lands to appeal a decision to terminate a

lease provides for the efficient resolution of situations, such as here, where there is the potential for serious damage to the State's public lands if action is not quickly taken. Indeed, even Cooke recognized the importance of the appeal process, stating that "[t]his is a unique administrative appeal in which the history behind and the context surrounding the decision are crucial for determining the appropriateness of DNR's termination of a longstanding aquatic lands lease for Cooke's salmon farm in Port Angeles." CP at 366.

The Court of Appeals' reversal of summary judgment on Cooke's good faith and fair dealing and lender notice claims undermines RCW 79.02.030. In doing so, the Court of Appeals incentivizes lessees of our State's aquatic lands to simply hedge their bets by appealing under the statute, contemporaneously filing civil claims, and then getting another bite at the apple on the legal issues underlying those claims if they lose their appeal under the statute. This waste of judicial resources and subversion of DNR's ability to efficiently resolve lease disputes to protect

the State's public lands is an issue of substantial public interest warranting review.

B. This Court Should Accept Review Because the Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with Established Law by Requiring Identity of Claims

The Court of Appeals held that collateral estoppel did not apply to either the good faith and fair dealing claims, or the lender notice claims because the claims are not identical. *Cooke* 2, slip op. at 12, 14 (agreeing with Cooke's argument that the issues were not addressed because the claims were not addressed in the administrative appeal).

The Court's decision conflicts with longstanding precedent that firmly establishes that collateral estoppel requires identity of underlying factual issues—not identity of claims. *Christensen v. Grant Cnty. Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 152 Wn.2d 299, 306, 96 P.3d 957 (2004); *Rains v. State*, 100 Wn.2d 660, 665, 674 P.2d 165 (1983). Unlike res judicata, collateral estoppel prevents relitigation "of one or more of the crucial issues or determinative facts determined in previous litigation."

Christensen, 152 Wn.2d at 306 (quoting Luisi Truck Lines, Inc. v. Wash. Util. & Transp. Comm'n, 72 Wn.2d 887, 894, 435 P.2d 654 (1967)); Weaver v. City of Everett, 194 Wn.2d 464, 473, 450 P.3d 177 (2019).

1. Cooke 1 decided the controlling legal issue related to Cooke's good faith and fair dealing claims

The Court of Appeals decided the controlling issue. *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 14, 15. Specifically, the Court held that substantial evidence supported DNR's determination that Cooke breached the lease, and that DNR was entitled to terminate based on the plain language of the lease. *Cooke* 1, slip op. at 14, 15.

The Court of Appeals distinguishes between DNR's "right" to terminate a lease and its "decision" to terminate in explaining how the claims differ. *Cooke* 2, slip op. at 12-13. The Court says that "[t]he duty of good faith and fair dealing involves whether the decision to terminate the contract was proper." *Id.* at 12. The Court explained that "a trial of Cooke's breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing claim" would be based on a

preponderance of the evidence standard, which is a higher burden than the earlier appeal's arbitrary and capricious standard. *Id*. The Court reasoned that therefore, collateral estoppel did not preclude Cooke's claim. *Id*.

The Court's reasoning is flawed because collateral estoppel does not require identical claims, and the controlling issue about DNR's lease termination has already been decided. Resolving Cooke's good faith and fair dealing claim first requires identifying whether the express lease terms give rise to the duty of good faith and fair dealing. "As a matter of law, there cannot be a breach of the duty of good faith when a party simply stands on its rights to require performance of a contract according to its terms." Badgett, 116 Wn.2d at 570. "[T]he implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing cannot add or contradict express contract terms and does not impose a free-floating obligation of good faith on the parties." Rekhter, 180 Wn.2d at 113. The duty arises only "when one party has discretionary authority to determine a future [undefined] contract term," such as "quantity, price, or time." *Rekhter*, 180 Wn.2d at 112-13. Where "a contract gives a party unconditional authority to determine a term, there is no duty of good faith and fair dealing." *Rekhter*, 180 Wn.2d at 119-20.

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