FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/6/2024 2:06 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1033176

Court of Appeals No. 58229-5-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES and HILARY FRANZ, the Washington Commissioner of Public Lands,

Petitioners,

VS.

COOKE AQUACULTURE PACIFIC, LLC,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Douglas J. Steding, WSBA #37020 Greg A. Hibbard, WSBA #60526 NORTHWEST RESOURCE LAW PLLC 71 Columbia Street, Suite 325 Seattle, WA 98104 206.971.1564

Trevor A. Zandell, WSBA #37210 DICKSON FROHLICH PHILLIPS BURGESS 111 21st Avenue SW Olympia, WA 98501 360.742.3500

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals Applied Established Collateral Estoppel Precedent.

The Court of Appeals correctly articulated the principles of collateral estoppel.

Collateral estoppel applies when (1) the issue decided in the prior action is identical with the one presented in the current action, (2) the prior action ended in a final judgment on the merits, (3) the party against whom the doctrine is asserted was a party or in privity with a party in the prior action, and (4) the application of collateral estoppel will not cause an injustice against the estopped party.

Cooke II, 2024 WL 3273999, at *5 (citing Weaver v. City of Everett, 194 Wn.2d 464, 474, 450 P.3d 177 (2019)).

Additionally, "only those issues that were actually litigated and necessary to the final determination in the earlier proceeding" can be collaterally estopped. Cooke II, 2024 WL 3273999, at *5 (quoting Schibel, 189 Wn.2d at 99). The Court of Appeals correctly applied collateral estoppel to the issues underlying Cooke's good faith and fair dealing and breach of contract claims.

The first element of collateral estoppel is dispositive of DNR's Petition. That element is only satisfied when the issues between the proceedings are "identical in all respects." *Reeves v. Mason County*, 22 Wn. App. 2d 99, 111, 509 P.3d 859 (2022) (citing *Standlee*, 83 Wn.2d at 408). A particular "issue"

includes both the pertinent facts and applicable legal rules and both "must remain unchanged" between proceedings. *Reeves*, 22 Wn. App. 2d at 111-12. "A difference in the degree of the burden of proof in the two proceedings precludes application of collateral estoppel." *Standlee*, 83 Wn.2d at 407. Even if "the facts remain constant, the adjudication in the first case does not estop the parties in the second, unless the matter raised in the second case involves substantially the same bundle of legal principles that contributed to the rendering of the first judgment." *Id.* at 408 (internal quotation marks omitted).

DNR asserts that the Court of Appeals misapplied *Standlee*. Petition at 25. DNR "cites no authority for the proposition that the rule expressed in *Standlee* is limited to the facts of that case." *Cooke II*, 2024 WL 3273999, at *7.

Standlee remains controlling and its reasoning explains the logical underpinnings of collateral estoppel that are applicable to many types of cases. See, e.g., Reeves, 22 Wn. App. 2d at 111-12; Billings v. Town of Steilacoom, 2 Wn. App.

2d 1, 15, 408 P.3d 1123 (2017); Brownfield v. City of Yakima, 178 Wn. App. 850, 872, 316 P.3d 520 (2014); Regan v. McLachlan, 163 Wn. App. 171, 181-82, 257 P.3d 1122 (2011); Lemond v. State, Dept. of Licensing, 143 Wn. App. 797, 805, 180 P.3d 829 (2008).

DNR argues that *Billings* demonstrates that *Standlee* does not control here. See Petition at 27. DNR selectively quotes the Billings decision, without crucial context. The portion of Billings quoted by DNR applied to the court's analysis of the fourth factor for collateral estoppel regarding injustice, not whether the issues were identical. See Billings, 2 Wn. App. 2d at 19. With respect to the first factor, the court in *Billings* explained that the prior arbitration proceeding established that the appellant's termination was proper under a higher, clear and convincing burden of proof. *Id.* at 20. Accordingly, that prior proceeding necessarily decided whether termination was proper under the lower burden preponderance of the evidence standard in the subsequent civil proceeding. *Id.*

DNR's concern that this correct reading of the law would mean that "collateral estoppel would likely never apply to administrative decisions" is not based in any authority. See Petition at 28. In fact, the decision that DNR highlights to support this allegation directly undercuts its argument. That decision, Shoemaker v. City of Bremerton, concerned whether a police officer's reduction in rank was retaliatory. 109 Wn.2d 504, 505-06, 745 P.2d 858 (1987). This Court held that collateral estoppel from an administrative determination was appropriate. *Id.* at 511-12. This Court reasoned, in part, that the question before the administrative commission—"whether there was any retaliation at all"—necessarily decided the issue in the plaintiff's subsequent civil claim—"whether retaliation was a substantial motive" behind the demotion. Id. at 512. Because there was no retaliation at all, retaliation could not have been a substantial motive and collateral estoppel was appropriate. *Id*.

- B. None of DNR's Remaining Arguments Justify Review of the Issues It Presents in the Petition.
 - 1. DNR Seeks to Insulate Itself from Required Review Rather than Protect a Public Interest.

DNR argues that a substantial public interest warrants this Court's review. Petition at 15. DNR expresses angst that the Court of Appeals' opinion in *Cooke II* will "undermine[] RCW 79.02.030" and "incentivize[] lessees of our State's aquatic lands" to get "another bite at the apple" on legal issues shared between an administrative appeal under the statute and separate civil claims. *Id.* at 17.

DNR fails to identify any legal authority that establishes RCW 79.02.030 as an exclusive means of review. In fact, the statute provides that a party "may appeal" pursuant to that statute. This text stands in stark contrast to other statutes where the Legislature has intended for the statute to remain the exclusive form of review. *See, e.g.*, RCW 36.70C.030(1) (chapter 36.70C RCW "replaces the writ of certiorari for appeal of land use decisions and shall be the exclusive means of judicial review of land use decisions"); RCW 36.70A.295(1) (a

superior court may only review a growth management act petition if "all parties to the proceeding... have agreed to direct review in the superior court").

DNR's arguments run counter to public interests because it is attempting to insulate its actions under a contract with a private party from anything other than the deferential review provided by RCW 79.02.030. Washington law is clear that, when contracting with a private party, an agency's actions must be adjudicated under the same standard that applies to the private party. See Architectural Woods, Inc., 92 Wn.2d at 526-27 (the state consents to being held to "the same responsibilities and liabilities as the private party" in a contract between the two). In Washington, "[t]here is not one law for the sovereign and another for the subject." *Id.* at 529. DNR's attempts to upset this pillar of Washington law in the guise of advancing public interests is dubious at best. DNR's interpretations would harm members of the public when contracting with agencies by

more heavily scrutinizing members of the public that contract with DNR.

DNR invites this Court to rewrite and reinterpret the applicable law to benefit the agency at the expense of the public. The Court should decline that invitation.

2. The Court of Appeals' Decision Did Not Conflict with Collateral Estoppel Precedent as DNR Alleges.

DNR also asserts that the Court of Appeals' decision improperly blurred the lines between res judicata (claim preclusion) and collateral estoppel (issue preclusion) and otherwise conflicted with established precedent. Petition at 18-19. DNR argues that "collateral estoppel requires identity of underlying factual issues—not identity of claims." *Id.* at 18 (emphasis added).

That articulation fails to appreciate an important principle of collateral estoppel. "Collateral estoppel does not apply when a substantial difference in applicable legal standards differentiates otherwise identical issues even though the factual

setting of both suits is the same." Reeves, 22 Wn. App. 2d at 112 (emphasis added). In other words, for issues to be identical, "[t]he controlling facts and applicable legal rules must remain unchanged" between the two proceedings. *Id.* at 111-12 (emphasis added); see also Standlee, 83 Wn.2d at 408 (even if "the facts remain constant, the adjudication in the first case does not estop the parties in the second, unless the matter raised in the second case involves substantially the same bundle of legal principles that contributed to the rendering of the first judgment" (internal quotation marks omitted)).

The Court of Appeals held that collateral estoppel did not apply to Cooke's good faith and fair dealing claim "[b]ecause the burden of proof in the administrative appeal was substantially higher than that in the instant case" and, therefore, "the issues raised in the second case are not identical to those raised in the administrative appeal." *Cooke II*, 2024 WL 3273999, at *6. DNR attempts to sidestep this conclusion by alleging that the "controlling issue" has already been decided.

See Petition at 20. DNR, however, fails to define this "controlling issue" or explain how the factual and legal principles in that issue were identical between the two proceedings.

DNR also attempts to argue the merits of the good faith and fair dealing claim. *See id.* at 20-21 (arguing why Cooke is not entitled to relief under the duty of good faith and fair dealing). As the Court of Appeals recognized, these arguments do not inform the analysis of whether collateral estoppel applies. *See Cooke II*, 2024 WL 3273999, at *7 (holding that such arguments are "immaterial to whether collateral estoppel applies"). ¹

DNR similarly attempts to establish that the "controlling issue" underlying Cooke's breach of contract claim has already been litigated. *See* Petition at 23. DNR argues that Cooke

¹ Cooke timely appealed the dismissal of its good faith and fair dealing claim in this civil litigation. DNR's arguments to the contrary are not supported by legal authority. *See* Petition at 23.

22

cannot recover under the breach of contract claim because Cooke's right to cure under the Lease has already been determined. *Id.* at 24. According to DNR, Cooke's lender cannot have any right beyond Cooke's rights. *Id.*

No court has addressed the issue of the lender's rights with respect to Cooke's rights. More to the point, the Assignment concerned not just the right to cure but DNR's obligation to give notice to Cooke's lender before the Lease was terminated. CP 2085 (DNR "shall not terminate the Lease... unless Lender has received from [DNR] a notice of default"). It is undisputed that DNR did not provide notice to Cooke's lender prior to terminating the Lease. No court has assessed the issue of what ramifications flow from that failure. Indeed, no court could have in the administrative appeal because the issues pertaining to the Assignment were not pled until after the superior court heard the administrative appeal. See Schibel, 189 Wn.2d at 99 ("Collateral estoppel precludes only those issues that were actually litigated and necessary to

the final determination in the earlier proceeding."). DNR's arguments on the merits of Cooke's breach of contract claim belong in the superior court on remand. They do not inform this Petition.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(d), Cooke requests that this Court accept review of the lone error committed by the Court of Appeals—holding that the trial court appropriately applied collateral estoppel to Cooke's UDJA claim. As explained below, the court's error was threefold and warrants this Court's review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

A. Cooke Did Not Have the Opportunity to Fully and Fairly Litigate the Issues Underlying the UDJA Claim in the Administrative Appeal.

In addition to the four elements of collateral estoppel, "[t]he question is always whether the party to be estopped had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue." *Nw. Wholesale, Inc. v. PAC Organic Fruit, LLC*, 183 Wn. App. 459, 491, 334

P.3d 63 (2014), *aff'd*, 184 Wn.2d 176, 357 P.3d 650 (2015). The Court of Appeals overlooked this factor in its analysis.

The cases relied upon by DNR illustrate the test for whether a party had a full and fair opportunity to litigate an issue in a proceeding like this one. For example, in *Reninger v*. *Dep't of Corr.*, the administrative board permitted parties to call and cross-examine witnesses, subpoena and obtain documents through a formal discovery process, and conduct depositions under oath prior to the hearing. 134 Wn.2d 437, 451, 951 P.2d 782 (1998). Similarly, in *Shoemaker*, the parties were afforded the ability to introduce documentary evidence, present and cross-examine witnesses, and otherwise take testimony under oath. *Shoemaker*, 109 Wn.2d at 510.

Here, the administrative appeal was limited to the certified agency record, without the opportunity to conduct complete discovery, depose witnesses, present witnesses, or cross-examine witnesses. *See* RCW 79.02.030; CP 442 (the

court "simply review[ed] the certified DNR record and appl[ied] the arbitrary and capricious standard to that record").

Cooke did not have the opportunity to conduct complete discovery, conduct depositions, or call or cross-examine witnesses at the hearing—and therefore did not have the opportunity to fully litigate the issues underlying its UDJA claim.

B. The Issues Underlying the UDJA Claim Are Not Identical to Any Issues Litigated in the Administrative Appeal.

The Court of Appeals also erred in holding that the issues underlying Cooke's UDJA claim are identical to issues fully litigated in the administrative appeal. The court acknowledged that the administrative appeal applied the substantial evidence standard to similar facts. *Cooke II*, 2024 WL 3273999, at *6. The court then reasoned that the facts and bundle of legal principles were sufficiently identical because "the substantial evidence standard is similar to the preponderance of the evidence standard that would be applied in Cooke's civil

lawsuit." *Id.* The court did not explain how those standards were similar, and it did not attempt to establish that the standards are "substantially the same" as contemplated by *Standlee. See* 83 Wn.2d at 408 (identifying need for "substantially the same bundle of legal principles").

Rather, the court failed to appreciate the deferential nature of the substantial evidence standard as compared to the preponderance of the evidence standard. "The substantial evidence standard is deferential; therefore [a court] view[s] the evidence and any reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the party that prevailed" before the agency. Affordable Cabs, Inc. v. Dep't of Employment Sec., 124 Wn. App. 361, 367, 101 P.3d 440 (2004) (internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, the administrative appeal litigated before the superior court and the Court of Appeals required Cooke to overcome a high burden to prevail on its claims. In stark contrast, in this civil litigation, Cooke's burden is substantially lower under the general civil standard of review. See State v.

Arredondo, 188 Wn.2d 244, 257, 394 P.3d 348 (2017) (preponderance of the evidence requires proof that "the proposition at issue is more probably true than not true" (internal quotation marks omitted)).

Unlike the administrative appeal, DNR receives no deference in this litigation. As the Court of Appeals recognized with respect to Cooke's good faith and fair dealing claim, these differing legal standards preclude application of collateral estoppel in this litigation. *See, e.g., Standlee*, 83 Wn.2d at 407.

C. Application of Collateral Estoppel to Dismiss the UDJA Claim Would Contravene Public Policy and Result in an Injustice.

Lastly, the Court of Appeals failed to account for Cooke's arguments pertaining to the fourth element of collateral estoppel. Collateral estoppel would contravene public policy and result in an injustice. Washington courts "acknowledge[] that the injustice factor recognizes the significant role of public policy." *Christensen v. Grant Cnty. Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 152 Wn.2d 299, 309, 96 P.3d 957 (2004) (internal quotation marks

omitted). In fact, a court "may qualify or reject collateral estoppel when its application would contravene public policy regardless of identifying an injustice." *Reeves*, 22 Wn. App. 2d at 113.

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